The first course designated as sociology carried the title Sociology and Statistics. It was taught in 1897-98, by Dr. Frederick Converse Clark who was named Chairman of a new Department of Economics and Sociology established in that year. He continued in this position until his death in 1903. His initial appointment had been as Assistant Professor of History and Economics in 1895. He was the sole member of the Departmental faculty until 1901, dividing his time between the courses in sociology and economics. When Dr. James E. Hagerty was named Assistant Professor in 1901; his teaching duties, too, were divided between the two fields.

Professor Hagerty, who succeeded Professor Clark as Chairman in 1903, remained in this position until 1922, when the Department of Economics and Sociology was divided into five departments. He then became Chairman of the Department of Sociology until 1932, also serving as Dean of the College of Commerce and Journalism from 1916 to 1921 and of the College of Commerce and Administration, which replaced it, until 1926.

Professor Hagerty's interest in the practical applications of knowledge brought about the early development of programs for training social service workers and business administrators which were first announced in a departmental bulletin issued in 1906. The degree, Bachelor of Social Administration, was introduced in 1916, and a School of Social Administration was organized in 1926 under Hagerty’s directorship.

Administrative separation of sociology and social work became more clearly defined in 1932, when Professor Charles C. Stillman was appointed Director of the School of Social Administration, and Dr. Hagerty assumed the title of Professor of Social Administration. His teaching spanned the fields of criminology offered in Sociology and Penology in social work.
The first master's degree was granted in 1905, to Thomas L. Harris, who went on to earn the doctoral degree at the University of Wisconsin. During the period 1905-09, four Master's degrees were granted in sociology; growth in graduate enrollment was slow until the decade of the 1920's, when it increased very sharply. There were 38 masters degrees granted in 1925-29, as well as three doctoral degrees in sociology in the same period. The first Ph.D. degree in sociology at this University was granted in 1914 to Daniel J. Williams.

The Department of Economics and Sociology had so wide a range of offerings that it might better have been described as a Department of the Social Sciences. Anthropology was among the offerings dating to 1901 when Hagerty taught a course entitled Primitive Societies. Anthropology remained administratively allied to sociology until 1967, when it became a separate department in the College of Social and Behavioral Sciences.

During Professor Hagerty's administration appointments to the faculty up to 1920 included the following: Victor Bruder, Agnes Drury Denune, Frederick Thrasher, Warner Gettys, Louise Mark, F.A. McKenzie, R. D. McKenzie, W.C. Mills, Emilie Renz, Beatrice Sheets, and Donald P. Taft.

The period from 1920 to 1930 was one of much expansion and increased turnover of the faculty. Among those appointed in that decade were W.J. Blackburn Jr., Belle D. Boyson, Mary L. Brown, G. Evelyn Buchan, Edwin L. Clark, Perry Denune, Leland Dorney, J.W. Hatcher, Elsie Jones, Frederick Lumley, Elizabeth Long, Herbert Miller, Cecil C. North, Robert G. Paterson, Henry M. Scott, Louise M. Spaeth, Negley Teeters, Benjamin Timmons, Floyd Van Keuren, T.C. Wang, Walter M. West, and James W. Wheeler. The relatively large number of women appointed probably resulted from the heavy emphasis on training of social workers during the later years of Hagerty's administration.
Near the end of Hagerty's administration, the dismissal of Professor Herbert A. Miller by the Board of Trustees on May 21, 1931 provided the only known incident in the history of the Department where the issue of academic freedom arose. One of the reasons given by the Board of Trustees for their action was the content of a speech by Professor Miller in Bombay, India during Mahatma Ghandi's leadership of the Indian independence movement. In this speech Miller was charged with having "incited the Hindus to civil disobedience". The Board also stated that it had received numerous complaints over several years about Dr. Miller's "radicalism on social and racial questions". An investigation by the A.A.U.P. characterized the dismissal as a violation of essential safeguards to freedom of speech. Regarding the charge of radicalism, the Committee found Dr. Miller "to be moderate and well balanced in his expression of views on such problems."

Professor Frederick E. Lumley succeeded Professor Hagerty as Chairman of the Department of Sociology in 1932. Professor Lumley, who had earned the Ph.D. degree in sociology at Yale, was appointed an Assistant Professor here in 1920, and was advanced to the rank of Professor the following year. His tenure as Chairman extended until 1940; he became Professor Emeritus in 1945. He was active in many campus and civic organisations. Chairman of a Committee appointed by President Rightmire to plan the first "Freshman Week", he administered this plan for its first three years. Professor Lumley was also Chairman of the Committee which planned the Faculty Club opened in 1924, and served as its first President while the present building was under construction. He served as a member of the Columbus Planning Commission, and of the Board of Zoning Adjustment.

Professor Lumley's administration was characterized by more development of "pure sociology" than in Hagerty's administration when social work was becoming
a field of professional training under auspices of the Department. The economic
depression of the 1930's, which brought sharp reductions in the University's
legislative appropriations, made it difficult for Dr. Lumley to expand the
faculty or initiate new programs. Curricular developments in his administration
placed emphasis on social change, social planning, and social control. Educational
sociology became a major field of departmental activity; Professor Lloyd A. Cook's
pioneering in this field brought national recognition to the Department.

New appointments to the faculty during Dr. Lumley's period as Chairman
include Ronald Almack, Viva Boothe, Edwin Burdell, Lloyd A. Cook, John L. Gillin
Jr., John S. Kegg, S. Clayton Newman, Florence Greenhoe Robbins, Ina Telberg, and
Harold E. Wetzel.

The local chapter of Alpha Kappa Delta, National Honorary Society in Sociology,
was established in 1934, and has continued to be active. A gift from Dr. and Mrs.
Lumley in 1936 established a scholarship in psychology in honor of their son
who was majoring in that field. After his retirement in 1945, Professor Lumley
spent his remaining years in Ontario, Canada where he died on July 26, 1954. A
bequest from Mrs. Margaretta Lumley in 1963 established The Frederick Lumley
Memorial Fund, providing a fellowship in sociology.

Professor Perry P. Denune followed Professor Lumley as Chairman of the
Department, serving in this position from 1940 to 1950. Dr. Denune had earned
the Ph.D. in this Department in 1927, and had served in the various ranks from
Teaching Assistant to Professor between 1921 and the date of his appointment as
Chairman. Rural-Urban Sociology, The Family, and Sociology of Religion were
among the fields in which he taught and had a special interest.

During the early years of Dr. Denune's administration, the outbreak of World
War II brought a sharp reduction in enrollment and loss of many faculty members
to the armed services and war-related governmental agencies. The end of the war
brought so large an influx of veterans under the "G.I. Bill" that it was
difficult to recruit enough faculty members to cope with the increase. Crowding
in offices and classrooms was a serious problem until 1950, when an addition to
Hagerty Hall was completed. The large share of the veterans who were married, and
their post-war adjustment problems, brought about the establishment of a Marriage
Counseling Clinic under departmental auspices. Professor John F. Cuber was named
Head of the Clinic at its inception; part-time staffing of the Clinic was provided
by faculty members teaching courses in the family field.

New appointments to the faculty were numerous during Dr. Denune's administration.
The list included Stuart Adams, John Bennett, Brewton Berry, Robert Bullock, John
Cuber, Bernard Desenberg, Michael Hakeem, Robert A. Harper, Jack S. Harris, Paul
N. Hatt, Alver Jacobson, Christen T. Jonassen, Herman Lantz, William Lipkind,
Carl A. Nissen, Walter C. Reckless, Melvin Seeman, Raymond F. Sletto, James
Spuhler, and Kurt Wolff.

At his retirement in 1951, Professor Denune gave his personal library in
sociology to Alpha Kappa Delta, the Honorary Society in Sociology; this collection
is kept in the departmental seminar room. He spent his retirement years in
California until his death on January 19, 1969.

Professor Raymond F. Sletto succeeded Professor Perry P. Denune as Chairman
on October 1, 1950. He had earned the Ph.D. degree at the University of Minnesota
in 1936, and was an Associate Professor there when appointed a Professor here in
1947. Research methods, social psychology, and statistics were his major teaching
fields in the Department.

Shortly after becoming Chairman, Professor Sletto proposed a change in the
name of the Department to recognize the growing importance of anthropology as
an academic field. This became The Department of Sociology and Anthropology
by action of the Board of Trustees on May 11, 1953. The growth of anthropology
was accelerated, reaching a level within the next decade that justified separate
departmental status. Creation of the Department of Anthropology was authorized
by The Board of Trustees, effective July 1, 1967.

Much of the growth in anthropology and in sociology after 1960, represented
the "tidal wave" of students resulting from high birth rates in the early post
World War II years. This necessitated a large expansion of the faculty, and
conversion of many discussion classes to lectures. Crowded conditions in class-
rooms and offices again became a problem; the University and the Department were
beset by budgetary difficulties accompanying this expansion.

Anticipating that a severe national shortage of college teachers would occur
when the "tidal wave" arrived, the Department undertook to achieve a large increase
in its graduate output. In the period from 1950 to 1962, this Department ranked
fifth among all universities in the number trained to the Ph.D. level, and ranked
first among the State Universities in this regard. Since graduate students must
be provided with sources of financial support, it became imperative to initiate
research programs in which they could be employed part-time, and to obtain funds
for graduate fellowships. The number of graduate students subsidized through
teaching assistantships, research assistantships, and fellowships was increased
approximately ten-fold during Professor Sletto's administration to approximately
one hundred annually.

Expansion of research led to the creation of several new organizations. The
largest of these was The Disaster Research Center under the joint direction of
Professors Russell Dynes, J. Eugene Haas, and Henry Quarantelli. This organization
established in 1963 soon became the largest of its kind in the world. The Ohio
State Juvenile Delinquency Research project, established in 1955 under the
direction of Professor Walter Reckless and Simon Dinitz, has continuously
conducted research to gain knowledge useful in explaining and preventing delinquency.
The Department cooperated closely with the Personnel Research Board to bring about the establishment of the Behavioral Science Research Laboratory in 1964; Professor Haas served as its first Director on a part-time basis. The Department shared in the planning of The Social Research Division of The Ohio Rehabilitation Center and provided it, in 1959, with a Director, Professor Saad Nagi, who held a joint appointment there and in this Department.

The Department was instrumental in bringing about the establishment of the Center for Community and Regional Development in 1963 within the framework of the College of Commerce and Administration. Dr. Byron Munson served as Director of this Center while continuing to teach part-time in the Department. Close cooperative research relationships between the Department and the Columbus Psychiatric Institute, under the direction of Dr. Benjamin Pasamanyk, resulted in many research studies by our faculty members and graduate students. Dr. Simon Dinitz held a part-time appointment at the Institute and was co-author of several notable studies in the mental health field. A major study of social change in all of Ohio's counties between 1950 and 1960 was conducted by Professor C.T. Jonassen in cooperation with the Kellogg Research Center of The College of Education. Professor Ronald A. Corwin made major studies of conflict in school systems under grants from the U.S. Office of Education.

During Professor Sletto's administration a gift from members of the Lazarus family of Columbus established the Robert Lazarus Professorship in Population Studies. Dr. Gunnar Myrdal was the first holder of this position, as a visiting Professor in the Spring Quarter of 1967. Dr. William Petersen was appointed to this Professorship in the Autumn of 1967.

Dr. Hans L. Zetterberg became Chairman of the Department on October 1, 1967 when Dr. Sletto resigned from this position. Professor Zetterberg earned the
doctoral degree at the University of Uppsala, and had been on the faculty of Columbia University before becoming Director of a large sociological research foundation affiliated with the Bank of Sweden. He held the latter position at the time of his appointment to a Visiting Professorship in this Department in the Spring Quarter of 1967. The first two years of his administration have brought considerable curricular revision and expansion of work in the fields of comparative sociology and population studies.

Raymond F. Sletto
July 1, 1969
## Graduate Degrees Granted in Sociology

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Year</th>
<th>M.A.</th>
<th>Ph.D.</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>1905-09</td>
<td>4</td>
<td>0</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1910-14</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1915-19</td>
<td>5</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1920-24</td>
<td>14</td>
<td>1</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1925-29</td>
<td>38</td>
<td>3</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1930-34</td>
<td>36</td>
<td>12</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1935-39</td>
<td>21</td>
<td>7</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1940-44</td>
<td>11</td>
<td>5</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1945-49</td>
<td>25</td>
<td>16</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1950-54</td>
<td>37</td>
<td>30</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1955-59</td>
<td>28</td>
<td>35</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1960-64</td>
<td>57</td>
<td>38</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>1965-68</td>
<td>71</td>
<td>24</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
Graduate Degrees Granted in Sociology